
INVESTIGATIONS OFFICER, 
Claimant, 

v. 
DUANE WILSON, MICHAEL H. 
DICKENS, and JACK WEBER, 

Respondents, 

DECISION OF THE 
INDEPENDENT ADMINISTRATOR 

This matter concerns three charges filed by the Investigations 
Officer against: (1) Duane Wilson ("Wilson"), a Business Agent 
with IBT Local Union 100 in Evendale, Ohio; (2) Michael H. Dickens 
("Dickens") , the President of Local 100; and (3) Jack Weber 
("Weber"), the Secretary-Treasurer of Local 100. A hearing was 
held before me and post-hearing briefs were submitted. Having 
reviewed the evidence and the post-hearing submissions, I find that 
the Investigations Officer has met his burden in proving the 
charges. 

I. THE CHARGE AGAINST WILSON 
The Investigations Officer charged Wilson with: 

Violating Article II, Section 2(a) and Article XIX, 
Section 6(b)(2), of the International Brotherhood of 
Teamsters Constitution (IBT), by conducting [himself] in 
a manner to bring reproach upon the IBT; and 

Violating Article XIX, Section 6(b)(6) of the IBT 
Constitution; to WIT: 

On March 20, 1991, on the premises of Local 100 
[Wilson] assaulted an Officer of the Local. 

This charge implicates two provisions of the IBT Constitution. 



D.V. My Voluntary Stay ^ ^ ^ 

Witlt̂ the exception of the requirement oĵ fette posting of the 
notice and of my^rohibitions on futyi^retaliatory actions against 
Hooks and any other per^o^<involved in this matter on behalf of 
Hooks (see supra Dfr; 12-13) , I wHistay this decision pending 
Judge Edel^fe^in's review. To that end, I willK^ubmit this decision 
to Judge Edelstein by way of Application. 

II. THE CHARGES AGAINST DICKENS AND WEBER 

The Investigations Officer charges that Dickens (the Local's 
President) and Weber (the Local1s Secretary-Treasurer) (hereinafter 
sometimes the "Respondents") acted in a manner to bring reproach 
upon the IBT by breaching their fiduciary duties to the members of 
Local 100, violating the Local Union's by-laws, and embezzling 
approximately $5625.00 from Local 100. The Investigations Officer 
specifically charges Respondents with violating Article XIX, 
Sections 6(b)(1) and (2), and Article II, Section 2(a)10 of the 
IBT Constitution by "fraudulently appropriating and converting to 
the use of [themselves] and others, at least $5,625.00 of Local 
100's money." 

The Investigations Officer's charge also specifically 
implicates Section 16(A) of Local 100's by-laws which requires 

See supra, pp. 1-2, for a discussion of these provisions. 
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Local Union Executive Board authorization for expenditures and 
contributions of Local Union funds.11 

The Investigations Officer alleges that the Respondents caused 
the Local to contribute aproximately $5,000.00 in fees and expenses 
for a golf outing held in Florida from about October 10 to October 
14, 1990, without Executive Board approval. Respondents are also 
charged with causing Local 100 to contribute $625.00 for a 
testimonial dinner for Jack Yager in December 1990, despite the 
Executive Board's previous refusal to approve this expenditure. 

A. Merits Of The Charge 

At the heart of this charge is an allegation of embezzlement. 
Respondents do not dispute the fact that they made the expenditures 
or contributions in question. Instead, they argue that the 
expenditures were properly authorized for business and charitable 
purposes and did not violate the Local's by-laws or the IBT 
Constitution. However, after reviewing the record and considering 
the post-hearing arguments, I conclude that the Investigations 
Officer has met his just cause burden of proving that Respondents 

11 Section 16 (A) of the Local 100 By-Laws provides: 
Except as may be otherwise provided in these By-

Laws, the Local Union Executive Board is authorized and 
empowered to conduct and manage the affairs of this 
organization, and to manage, invest, expend, contribute, 
use, borrow, lend and acquire Local Union funds and 
property in the pursuit of accomplishment of the 
objectives set forth in the Constitution of the 
International Union and these By-Laws and resolutions 
adopted in the furtherance thereof, [emphasis supplied] 
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fraudulently converted Union funds to their own use or the use of 
others and caused the Local to make contributions in violation of 
the by-laws. 

It is now well settled that for the Investigations Officer to 
prove a charge of embezzlement, he must establish that the charged 
party acted with "fraudulent intent to deprive the Union of its 
funds." See, e.g.. Investigations Officer V. Salvatore . Opinion 
of the Independent Administrator (October 21, 1990) at p. 21, 
aff'd. United States v. IBT (Application XIV) . 754 F.Supp 333, 338-
339 (S.D.N.Y. 1990); Investigations Officer v. Vitale. Decision of 
the Independent Administrator, (December 18, 1990) at p. 11, 
aff'd., United States v. IBT (Application XXI). 88 Civ. 4486 (DNE), 
slip op. (S.D.N.Y. June 6, 1991); Investigations Officer v. 
O'Brien. Decision of the Independent Administrator (May 15, 1991) 
at pp. 26-27, aff'd. United States v. IBT (Application XXXI). 88 
Civ. 4486 (DNE), slip op. (S.D.N.Y. September 11, 1991); 
Investigations Officer v. Morris et al.. Decision of the 
Independent Administrator (May 22, 1991) at p. 13, aff'd. United 
States v. IBT (Application XXXVII). 88 Civ. 4486 (DNE), slip op. 
(S.D.N.Y. October 9, 1991); Investigations Officer v. Calagna et 
al. . Decision of the Independent Administrator, (June 14, 1991) at 
p. 30, aff'd. United States v. IBT (Application XXX). 88 Civ. 4486 
(DNE), slip op. (S.D.N.Y. August 14, 1991). See, also. 29 U.S.C. 
§501(c) (Embezzlement of Union assets); United States v. Welch. 728 
F.2d 1113 (8th Cir. 1989) ("Nevertheless, under any test, union 
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officials violate §501(c) only when they possess fraudulent intent 
to deprive the Union of its funds."). 

Respondents state that they believed they acted properly and 
made no effort to misrepresent these expenditures in the Local's 
financial records and that, therefore, they have not embezzled or 
otherwise acted with the intent to defraud the Union of its funds. 
However, the facts surrounding Respondents' conflict with other 
members of the Local's Executive Board and Respondents' failures to 
follow Section 16(A) of the by-laws compel a contrary finding. As 
stated in United States v. IBT Local 560. 780 F.2d 267, 284 (3rd 
Cir. 1985): "[I]t has long been settled that it is permissible to 
infer from circumstantial evidence the existence of intent." 
(Citing. United States v. Burrell. 496 F.2d 609, 610 (3rd Cir. 
1974)). Respondents had an affirmative duty to obey their oath of 
office and follow Section 16(A) of the by-laws. Thus, any 
violation of the oath and Section 16(A) gives rise to an inference 
of fraudulent intent. As stated in Local 560. 780 F.2d at 284: 

[I]f an individual fails to act when he has an 
affirmative duty to do so, negative inferences concerning 
his intent can be drawn from this inaction. 
As established in the discussion of the charge involving the 

assault on Hooks by Wilson, the Local 100 Executive Board is split 
over the issue of how to manage its affairs. Dickens and Weber are 
opposed by Vice President Hooks, Recording Secretary Beck and 
Trustees Koop and Breeden. See, e.g.. 10 Ex. K p. 25; 10 Ex. L p. 
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9; 10 Ex. M pp. 13-14; 10 Ex. N p. 22.12 Koop and Breeden at one 
point refused to sign the books and Dickens in response reduced the 
frequency of the audits from once a week to once a month. 10 Ex. M 
pp. 5-6. The by-laws require monthly audits, 10 Ex. A (Local 100 
by-laws, Section 12), but Local 100's practice had been to conduct 
weekly audits. 10 Ex. M p. 5. 

All current members of the Local 100 Executive Board were 
elected in 1989 on the same "reform ticket" that ousted the 
incumbents. T127-5 to T129-10. They took office in January 1990 
and immediately thereafter began to disagree regarding the 
procedures by which the Local's affairs should be managed. 10 Ex. 
N p. 9. 

The Local's by-laws specify how the Local's money is to be 
spent. Under Section 8(C), the President, in conjunction with the 
Secretary-Treasurer, has the authority to pay the Local's bills and 
current operating expenses. Under Section 16(A) the Executive 
Board is empowered to "manage, invest, expend, contribute, use, 
borrow, lend, and acquire Local Union funds," except as otherwise 
provided (e.g. as in Section 8 (C)). 

Thus, it is clear in the by-laws that Dickens' authority to 
unilaterally spend money as President is limited not only by the 
requirement that he act in conjunction with Secretary-Treasurer 

12 The Investigations Officer exhibits for the charges against 
Dickens and Weber are separate from the exhibits supporting the 
charges against Wilson. Thus, the Alpha references here refer to 
the set of Exhibits relating to the Dickens and Weber charges. 
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Weber, but also by the larger requirement that his and the 
Secretary-Treasurer's unilateral authority to spend funds is 
limited to current bills and operating expenses. Other uses of the 
dues-payers' money require authorization by the Executive Board. 

Dickens states that he discussed the Local's contribution to 
the Yager dinner with Executive Board members prior to one of their 
meetings in "October or November" of 1990 (T144-10 to 20) , and 
secured their approval for the Local to pay for one-half of a table 
if Joint Council 26 would pay the other half.13 T145-7 to 25. 
The meeting in question occurred on November 28, 1990. 10 Ex. K p. 
21. Respondents claim that the discussion does not appear in the 
minutes because it took place prior to the actual meeting. T14-24 
to T15-6. Similarly, Respondents suggest that the statement in the 
minutes "all other requests for donations were tabled" does not 
include the proposed $625.00 contribution to the Yager affair 
because that affair was discussed "off the record" prior to the 
actual meeting. See 10 Ex. C (Minutes of Local 100 Executive Board 
meeting, November 28, 1990.); Respondents' Post-Hearing Brief at 
pp. 6-8. 

This argument is rejected. The suggestion that a matter 
subject to Executive Board approval would be handled "off the 
record" or prior to the Executive Board's actual meeting or 
otherwise apart from their usual considerations of such matters is 

13 Weber signed the check for the Yager dinner. T218-13 to 20. 
Weber also attended the Yager dinner. T149-22 to T150-11. 
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implausible on its face. Moreover, the other members of the 
Executive Board flatly assert that they never approved this 
contribution either on or off the record. To the contrary, they 
specifically opposed the contribution during the actual meeting and 
formally moved to table it. 10 Ex. K pp. 21-22 (Beck) ; 10 Ex. L p. 
9 (Hooks) ; 10 Ex. M p. 7 (Koop) ; 10 Ex. N pp. 19-20 (Breedon) . The 
statements of the persons who had the authority to approve or 
disapprove the contribution are dispositive on the issue of whether 
or not the required approval was ever given. The other Board 
members1 version is also consistent with the entry in the minutes 
that "[a]11 other requests for donations were tabled."14 

Thus, it is evident that Executive Board approval was not 
obtained and Dickens and Weber violated Section 16(A) of the 
Local's by-laws by contributing $625.00 of the Local's money to the 
affair in question.15 

Respondents do not even try to suggest that they sought or 
obtained Executive Board approval for the "roughly $5,000.00" (10 
Ex. K p. 24), spent in connection with the Little Cities Golf 

14 Other donations were discussed and considered at the November 
28th meeting. For instance, a motion to donate $1,000 to a 
Christmas food drive was approved. 10 Ex. C. (Minutes of Executive 
Board meeting of November 28, 1990) 
15 Respondents represent that this contribution was retroactively 
approved at a general membership meeting after the hearing. 
However, even if this post-hoc ratification did not flout the rules 
for amending the by-laws, it could not legitimize behavior that was 
wrong when committed. See, e.g. . Morrissy v. Curran. 423 F.2d 393, 
399 (2d Cir. 1970) (amendment retroactively legitimizing previous 
derelictions of duty held to be void). 
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tournament, a charity fund raising event held during the week of 
October 10-14, 1990, in West Palm Beach, Florida. See also 10 Exs. 
D and E (Local 100 financial records). Instead, Dickens asserts 
that he viewed the matter as a Union business meeting the costs of 
which did not require Executive Board approval. T152-16 to T153-
11. Dickens offered testimony indicating that he, along with Pat 
Eick ("Eick"), a Local 100 Business Agent who joined Dickens at the 
tournament, did in fact transact Union business in Florida during 
the month of October.16 T152-16 to T161-6. Thus, Dickens 
suggested, he "quite possibly" would have been in Florida even 
absent the benefit golf tournament. T160-10 to 15. 

However, despite the representation that he viewed the event 
as a business matter, Dickens admits that the Local carried the 
Little Cities expenditure on its books as a charitable 
contribution. T196-10 to 25. Moreover, both Dickens and Eick took 
their wives with them to West Palm Beach for the week of the golf 
outing. T194-3 to 9; T233-21 to 24. In the light of these facts, 
Respondents' argument that they did not recognize the Little 
Cities' expenditure as a contribution requiring Executive Board 
approval loses credibility as does their argument that they viewed 
the affair as a business matter. Notwithstanding the collateral 
business aspects of the trip, it is clear that Respondents were 

16 Weber did not attend the golf outing, however, he "signed the 
check." T212-21 to 213-4. See also T218-17 to 20. 
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aware of the charitable nature of the event as well as its 
entertainment value for themselves and their families. 

Respondents also argue that the contribution to the Little 
Cities affair without Executive Board approval conforms to the 
usual practice of Local 100. Respondents furnished records of 
Local 100's participation in the Little Cities event for the years 
1984 through 1988 and demonstrated that contributions to the golf 
outing had not previously been subject to Executive Board approval. 
T168-8 to T169-10. Respondents' evidence showed that Local 100 
Officers had attended the event in 1984, 1987, and 1988 and that 
the only mention of the event in the minutes of the Executive Board 
meetings was a 1988 reference approving the purchase of advertising 
in the tournament brochure. Ibid. Respondents concede that no 
officers from Local 100 attended the event in 1989 and attribute 
this to the press of campaigning for the Local Union elections that 
took place in December 1989. T197-1 to 16. 

The questionable practices of the prior Union officers — who 
were ousted in the December 1989 elections by the Respondents 
running on a "reform" ticket — cannot legitimize what is otherwise 
a clear violation of the by-laws. Moreover, the Local's present 
by-laws were amended in the latter part of 1988 to conform to the 
International's model by-laws. T191-12 to T192-11. Thus, there is 
no "past practice" that justifies the failure to secure Executive 
Board approval of this contribution to the Little Cities golf 
tournament and fund-raiser. 
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In addition, I cannot credit Respondents' argument that, as 
truck drivers with little experience in running a Union, they were 
unaware that Executive Board approval was required for the 
contributions that form the basis for these charges. The Executive 
Board consistently opposed Dickens' and Weber's efforts to spend 
the Local's money without its approval and specifically objected to 
the Yager contribution before it was made. The golf outing 
expenditures remained unknown to the members of the Executive 
Board until they saw the canceled checks at an audit meeting. 
However, when the Executive Board members subsequently questioned 
this expense, Dickens refused to recognize that they had any 
authority over the matter. 10 Ex. K pp. 23-25. 

It is evident that Respondents have been obdurate and defiant, 
rather than naive, in failing to abide by the relevant spending 
provisions of the Local by-laws. When first questioned about his 
spending powers, Dickens informed the Investigations Officer that 
he did not accept these limitations on his power. 10 Ex. H pp. 53-
54. As stated by Dickens: 

I'm the principal executive officer of this local 
union. That's my thoughts. The first sentence of my 
bylaws say I'm in control of all affairs in this local 
union, and as long as I'm being unbiased and responsible 
to this local union, no, I don't think I need to — that 
I need their permission to spend monies for things are 
dictated in my bylaws it should be spent for. 

This is consistent with Hooks' testimony that Dickens "said as 
principal officer he would spend what he wanted to and okay what he 
wanted to." 10 Ex. L p. 12. 
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Moreover, Respondents attempted to intimidate another member 
of the Executive Board into relinquishing his authority under the 
bylaws. As reported by Beck: 

Dickens started saying to me, look, if you guys 
don't quit hammering on us, meaning going against them, 
bucking them, he says I'm going to ruin you. He says I 
got the office to do it and I will do it. I told them — 
Weber got real close like he was going to punch me or 
something. I started getting pretty nervous and the only 
ones here was two of the BA's aligned with Dickens and 
Weber. I stood my ground but I thought for sure I was 
going to get a beating with the two of them there. 
[10 Ex. K p. 36] 
The pattern that emerges here is not one of unknowledgeable 

but well-meaning Union officers who are conducting Union business 
and making charitable contributions as well as they can, but rather 
two officers who seek to wield power without accountability in 
defiance of the by-laws and of the views of the other Executive 
Board members. What has occurred here is an unprincipled 
arrogation of power in which Respondents have sought total control 
over Local 100's finances. Even without the embezzlement charge, 
Respondents' pursuit of this impermissible goal, violates Section 
16(A) of the Local 100 by-laws as well as their oath of Union 
office and brings reproach upon the IBT. 

It is evident that Respondents were well aware of the by-law's 
requirement that they obtain Executive Board approval for the 
contributions in question. Moreover, the contributions made were 
not straightforward donations to charity. In this case, part of 
the contributions covered the Respondents' expenses for dinner and 
a golf tournament with only the net profits presumably going to the 
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charity. As the November 28, 1990, minutes show, straightforward 
charitable contributions were submitted to the Executive Board for 
approval whereas the contributions involving junkets were not. 

Thus, it is clear that Respondents sought to bypass the 
Executive Board in matters where it was obvious that their own 
personal entertainment was mixed with ostensible business or 
charitable activities. From this I conclude that Respondents acted 
with fraudulent intent in circumventing the Executive Board to 
secure the funds necessary to attend a golf outing and a 
testimonial dinner. 

Given the above considerations, I find that the Investigations 
Officer has established just cause to find that the charges against 
Dickens and Weber were proved. 

B. The Penalty To Be Imposed 
Respondents converted Union funds to their own use in 

treating themselves to a golf outing and a testimonial dinner. 
They also made contributions from the Local 100 treasury in 
violation of the Local's by-laws thereby bringing reproach upon the 
Union. In making these ambiguous and improper expenditures, they 
sought to disguise the fact that, in part, the Local's funds were 
used for their personal benefit. 

Accordingly, Respondents' suspension from the IBT is in order. 
As a penalty, Respondents shall be suspended for a period of five 
years. As noted in a prior decision: 
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Officers of IBT Locals must understand that their 
Local Union coffers are not their personal piggy banks 
that can be cracked open whenever it serves their 
personal benefit. The Local's assets belong to the 
Local's members. The Local's officers are mere trustees 
of those assets. 
fInvestigations Officer v. Morris et al., Decision of the 
Independent Administrator (May 22, 1991), at p. 26, 
aff'd. United States v. IBT. 88 Civ. 4486(DNE), slip op. 
(S.D.N.Y. October 9, 1991)] 
Thus, Respondents are to remove themselves from all of their 

IBT-affiliated Union positions including membership in the IBT and 
draw no money or compensation therefrom, or from any other IBT-
af filiated source during their period of suspension. 

C. Respondents' Benefits 

At my request, Respondents' attorney wrote to me indicating 
that Respondents participate in the following plans, funds and 
benefit programs: 

1. The Central States Health and Welfare Fund. 
2. The Central States Pension Fund. 
3. The Teamster Affiliates Pension Plan. 
4. An automobile allowance of $650.00 per month. 
5. Severance Benefit. 

As stated in connection with the charge against Wilson, my 
authority to impose sanctions on a respondent's employee benefits 
is now well settled. 

Consistent with my ruling in Senese, see supra pp. 13-14, I 
will not alienate any of Respondents' vested benefits. However, I 
direct that Local 100 and any other IBT-affiliated entity that may 
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contemplate doing so, not contribute to any of the above listed 
plans, funds or benefit programs during Respondents' period of 
suspension. Respondents are also not entitled to any automobile 
allowance during their respective suspensions. Respondents may, if 
they wish, use their personal funds to pay the premiums for their 
Health and Welfare Funds, or to make contributions to their Pension 
plans during their suspension.17 

D. My Voluntary Stay 

I will stay my decision involving Dickens and Weber pending 
Judge Edelstein's review. To that end, I will submit this decision 
to Judge Edelstein by way of Application. 

Dated: December 23, 1991 

17 The prohibition on the Union's payment of Respondents' legal 
fees is also fully applicable, see supra p. 14, n. 9. 
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NOTICE 

On December 23,1991, the Independent Administrator issued a Decision suspending me, 

Duane Wilson, IBT Local Union 100 Business Agent, for a period of five years from Local 100 

and the IBTfor physically assaulting fellow Local 100 officer, Anthony "Tony" Hooks, on Local 

100 premises on March 20, 1991. The Independent Administrator voluntarily "stayed" my 

suspension pending review of his Decision by the United States District Court for the Southern 

District of New York. To inform all Local 100 members of the Independent Administrator's 

Decision, and to prevent any retaliatory action against Tony Hooks, I was ordered to distribute 

this Notice to you. 

BY ORDER OF THE INDEPENDENT ADMINISTRATOR: 

I hereby instruct all officers, business agents, and members of Local 100 that they 

shall not in any way, directly or indirectly, harass, interfere with, threaten or take any 

other action in any way detrimental to the rights, employment, IBT membership, benefits 

or other interest of Tony Hooks or any other person involved on behalf of Mr. Hooks in 

the matter involving the charge filed against me by the Investigations Officer and the 

hearing conducted on that charge by the Independent Administrator. 

Duane Wilson Date 
Business Agent 
IBT Local Union 100 

THIS NOTICE SHALL REMAIN POSTED 
FOR A PERIOD OF FORTY-FIVE DAYS 


